THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2016-CP-40-00910
Appellate Case No. 2017-001750

RECEIVED
JAN 02 2019
SC Court of Appeals

Darris Hassell, Respondent,

v.

City of Columbia, Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Teresa A. Knox # 64212
W. Michael Hemlepp, Jr. # 64264
OFFICE OF THE CITY ATTORNEY
P.O. Box 667
(803) 737-4242
taknox@columbiasc.net
wmhemlepp@columbiasc.net

Blake A. Hewitt # 73674
BLUESTEIN THOMPSON SULLIVAN, LLC
P.O. Box 7965
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 779-7599
(803) 779-8995 (facsimile)
blake@bluesteinattorneys.com

Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the circuit court erred in refusing to order a new trial when potential jurors were asked during voir dire if they had ever been arrested by the City of Columbia and when the eventual foreman remained silent, failing to disclose his arrest from a year before trial.
- II. Whether the verdict of \$200,075 is so large that it lacks a sensible basis in this record, is not a rational estimate of the plaintiff's damages, and is grossly excessive requiring reversal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of a traffic stop. Darriss Hassell was arrested for DUI after he was stopped by a City of Columbia police officer at 1:30 in the morning in February of 2014.

Some parts of the encounter are disputed. The police officer claimed Mr. Hassell's vehicle made an improper left turn. (Trial Tr.p.127, lines 7-14). Mr. Hassell disputes making an improper turn. (Id.p.58, lines 1-11). The police officer says he arrested Mr. Hassell because Mr. Hassell failed field sobriety tests. (Id.p.128, line 9 - p.134, line 25). Mr. Hassell disputes he failed the tests. (Id.p.61, lines 3-17).

Other parts of the encounter are not disputed. The parties do not dispute Mr. Hassell told the officer he never drank alcohol and could not be impaired. (Id.p.60, lines 6-8; p.112, line 15 - p.113, line 1). The parties also do not dispute Mr. Hassell's breath test returned a reading of 0.0 when that test was administered at the police station, after Mr. Hassell had already been arrested. (Id.p.69, lines 18-19; p.135, lines 10-16). There are no allegations of abuse or mistreatment. The arresting officer said Mr. Hassell was cooperative and compliant throughout the encounter. (Id.p.112, lines 3-8). Mr. Hassell said the officer was respectful and "somewhat polite but short." (Id.p.60, lines 13-14; p.92, lines 12-13).

The arresting officer left employment with the City of Columbia police department in August of 2014. (Id.p.136, lines 15-16). He left the department in good standing. (Id.p.161, lines 7-14). There are no allegations of misconduct or that he was fired.

In October of 2014 Mr. Hassell's charges were dismissed and his record was expunged. (Id.p.104, ll. 13-14; p.118, ll. 16-20). The City did not have the video recordings of the field sobriety tests. The City had also failed to test Mr. Hassell's urine sample. The officer, who was then a private citizen, suggested the dismissal. (Id.p.137, ll. 3-20).

The urine sample had not been tested by mistake. The arresting officer had correctly placed the urine sample in the evidence locker at the police department. (Id.p.125, lines 7-20). He incorrectly believed another officer would take the sample from the evidence locker to the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division for testing. *Id.* The correct procedure called for the arresting officer to retrieve the sample from the evidence locker as soon as practical and deliver it to SLED himself. (Id.p.125, line 21 - p.126, line 3).

Mr. Hassell filed this lawsuit in February of 2016, two years after the arrest. His complaint alleged claims for false arrest, malicious prosecution, defamation, and negligent supervision. (Complaint, pp.1-2).

The case was tried over four days in May of 2017. Five witnesses testified: Mr. Hassell, the arresting officer, a deputy police chief, Mr. Hassell's former teaching assistant, and a physician. (Trial Tr.p.2).

The plaintiff's theory of the case was that the arresting officer did not know what he was doing and had either misinterpreted or misrepresented Mr. Hassell's performance on the field sobriety tests. The arresting officer had twice consulted a written manual when

administering the field sobriety tests. (Id.p.72, line 12 - p.73, line 3). Mr. Hassell said this gave him the impression the officer was inexperienced. *Id.* Mr. Hassell also said the officer appeared not to know the process of obtaining a urine sample. (Id.p.73, lines 4-12).

For his part, the arresting officer admitted his mistake in handling the urine sample, explaining this was his first DUI arrest where he collected bodily fluids. (Id.p.113, lines 17 - p.114, line 7). The officer nevertheless maintained his belief Mr. Hassell had been impaired. (Id.p.135, lines 10-16). The officer insisted he would not have made the arrest for any other reason. *Id.* The officer said he always read the field sobriety instructions aloud in order to ensure accuracy when administering those tests. (Id.p.134, lines 2-9). He also apologized for the distress Mr. Hassell experienced as a result of the arrest. (Id.p.123, lines 5-9).

The City's chief theory at trial was to defend the arrest as valid based on the officer's testimony that Mr. Hassell failed the field sobriety tests. (Id.p.219, lines 14-25). However, the City also conceded a verdict in Mr. Hassell's favor would be appropriate if the jury determined there had *not* been probable cause for the arrest. *Id.* The City proposed the jury compensate Mr. Hassell at the rate of \$400 per hour if it believed damages were appropriate and suggested the verdict could account for Mr. Hassell's 16 hours in jail, time for the two trips Mr. Hassell had to make to court before his charges were dismissed, and the \$75 Mr. Hassell had to pay as a result of his car being towed. (Id.p.223, line 1 - p.225, line 22).

Plaintiff's counsel initially requested an award of four times Mr. Hassell's \$48,000 annual salary. (Id.p.208, lines 1-6). Then, after the City's closing argument, the request increased to five times Mr. Hassell's annual salary. (Id.p.229, lines 7-8). The basis for this increase was the City's argument that a reasonable view of the evidence supported a defense

verdict. (Id.p.219, lines 7-13). The plaintiff apparently interpreted that argument as showing “they [the City] still don’t get it.” (Id.p.229, lines 7-10).

The circuit court charged the jury on false arrest, malicious prosecution, and negligent supervision. None of the objections to the jury charge are relevant to the appeal.

On May 19, 2017 the jury returned a general verdict of \$200,075. (Verdict form).

On May 30, 2017 the City filed a written motion for a new trial. This was the first business day following the Memorial Day holiday. Among other grounds, the City argued the amount of the verdict was grossly excessive and that the plaintiff’s closing argument had improperly suggested the jury needed to award a large verdict in order to make the City “care,” “pay attention,” and “show up in court.” (5/30/17 Mot.pp.2 & 5); see also (Trial Tr.p.199, line 5; p.208, lines 20-22; p.209, lines 5-7).

The City filed an amended motion for a new trial the following day, however, this motion did not materially differ from the original motion and is irrelevant to the appeal.

The circuit court heard these post-trial motions on June 2, 2017 and denied them in a Form 4 order filed June 27, 2017. (Form 4).

On June 30, 2017 the City filed a final motion for a new trial. This motion alleged the City had recently learned the jury foreman did not disclose during voir dire that he had been arrested by the City roughly a year before the trial occurred. (6/30/17 Motion p.1). The City attached the incident report from the foreman’s arrest to this motion. (Id.Ex.1). The City also attached the portion of the transcript from voir dire demonstrating potential jurors had been asked if they had ever been arrested by the City. (Id.Ex.2). One person responded affirmatively to the question. (Trial Tr.pp.20-21). The eventual foreman did not.

The City served and filed a notice of appeal on August 18, 2017.

The circuit court did not hear the City's last motion for a new trial until June 27, 2018; nearly a year after the motion had been filed. (6/27/18 Tr.p.1). The court conducted this hearing pursuant to a limited remand from this Court for post-trial motions.

On July 27, 2018, the circuit court entered a written order denying the City's motion. A subsequent order was filed August 22, 2018 to correct a page's inadvertent omission from the prior order. (Both 8/22/18 Orders).

The circuit court denied relief citing a number of grounds including that the City supposedly did not offer any evidence of who discovered the foreman's prior arrest, how the arrest was discovered, or how burdensome it would have been for the City to discover the arrest during jury selection or before the verdict. The court ultimately concluded the City either knew or should have known of the foreman's prior arrest. The court believed these things defeated the City's arguments that it was entitled to rely on receiving honest answers during voir dire and that the foreman's prior arrest would have been a material factor in the City's exercise of peremptory strikes.

Between the original and amended orders, the plaintiff filed a motion seeking sanctions against the City. (8/16/18 Mot.pp.1-2). The City filed a response and the plaintiff filed an amended sanctions request. (Response & Am. Mot.). This issue remains pending. The City believes it is affected by the appeal and stayed per Rule 205, SCACR. (Response).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The denial of a new trial based on a juror's failure to give accurate responses during voir dire is reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard. *Long v. Norris & Assocs.*, 342

S.C. 561, 568, 538 S.E.2d 5, 9 (Ct. App. 2000). This Court also gives substantial deference to the jury's assessment of damages but must reverse if the verdict "is grossly inadequate or excessive so as to be the result of passion, caprice, prejudice, or some other influence outside the evidence[.]" *O'Neal v. Bowles*, 314 S.C. 525, 527, 431 S.E.2d 555, 556 (1993).

ARGUMENT

This case is both easy and difficult.

It is easy because the law is straightforward. "Intentional concealment" occurs when a *voir dire* question is reasonably comprehensible to the average juror and when the subject matter of the question is so significant that a juror's failure to respond would be *unreasonable*. There can be no dispute this question was straightforward and that the subject matter—a prior arrest—is significant. There can also be no dispute that this information would have been a material factor in the City's use of peremptory strikes.

Reversal is reinforced by the size of the verdict. Nobody doubts the experience of being arrested was humiliating. The Court also must take as true the jury's finding that there was no probable cause. Still, it is difficult to see a sensible basis for an award of \$200,000 in non-economic damages in this case. This is confirmed by the record and by precedent.

The case is difficult because the record shows Mr. Hassell is a fine and upstanding person. Reversing will prolong this litigation, as it does any litigation. But it is impossible to overlook that the circuit court did not apply the test for intentional concealment, that the ruling the City was negligent in failing to discover the arrest sooner conflicts with precedent, and that there was a direct plea for the jury to amplify its verdict based on the perceived need to make the City "care." These things were wrong. This Court should reverse.

I. The circuit court erred in refusing to order a new trial based on the foreman’s failure to disclose his prior arrest.

The circuit court erred in refusing to order a new trial based on the foreman’s failure to disclose his prior arrest. The court did not articulate or apply the test for “intentional concealment.” Also, the court’s ruling that the City was negligent in failing to discover the foreman’s arrest sooner rather than later appears to directly conflict with precedent. Finally, the court mis-applied other legal principles, reciting some standards that were irrelevant and others that were wrong. This Court should reverse and remand for a new trial.

a. The circuit court did not apply the test for intentional concealment.

A series of cases explain the standard for a new trial based on voir dire responses.

The Supreme Court’s decision in *Thompson v. O’Rourke* is one of several precedents articulating a three-part test. That case explains a party seeking a new trial because one of the jurors was “disqualified” must show (1) the fact of disqualification; (2) that the grounds for disqualification were unknown prior to the verdict; and (3) that the moving party was not negligent in failing to learn of the disqualification before the verdict. 288 S.C. 13, 14, 339 S.E.2d 505, 506 (1986).

Thompson also explains “disqualification” does not mean the juror was disqualified from service. A new trial is required if the concealed information would have supported a challenge for cause *or* if the concealed information would have been a material factor in the use of peremptory strikes. *Id.* at 15, 339 S.E.2d at 506.

The final case needed for a full summary of the law is the case defining “intentional concealment.” In *State v. Woods*, the Supreme Court cited *Thompson* as mandating a new

trial when there has been intentional concealment and when the concealed information would have supported a challenge for cause or been a material factor in peremptory strikes. *Woods*, 345 S.C. 583, 587, 550 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2001). Then, the Court held:

intentional concealment occurs when the question presented to the jury on voir dire is reasonably comprehensible to the average juror and the subject of the inquiry is of such significance that the juror's failure to respond is unreasonable.

Id. at 588, 550 S.E.2d at 284.

The order denying the City's motion for a new trial never cited *Woods* and never applied the intentional concealment test. (8/22/18 Or.pp.1-11). The circuit court did not examine whether the voir dire question was straightforward and the court did not explain whether the subject matter of the question was of such significance that the foreman's failure to respond was unreasonable.

Oddly, the circuit court purported to find as a fact that the foreman was *not* disqualified, explaining the foreman would have remained in the jury pool if he had disclosed his arrest and answered that he nevertheless believed he could be impartial. (*Id.*pp.5-6). That finding misapplies the disqualification analysis from *Thompson* and *Woods*. The test is not actual disqualification, but whether the information would have supported a challenge for cause or been a material factor in the use of peremptory strikes.

It is difficult to see how this could be anything other than intentional concealment. The question was straightforward: "[H]ave you or a close family member ever been arrested by a City of Columbia police officer?" (Trial Tr.p.20, lines 2-3). The subject matter of the question—being arrested—seems significant enough that the failure to disclose a prior arrest

is objectively unreasonable. Nobody disputes the foreman was arrested on May 20, 2016 for driving with a suspended license and that he spent over 24 hours in jail. (6/30/17 Mot.Ex.1). This was almost exactly a year before the trial.

This voir dire question even came up at the beginning of trial. During opening statements, plaintiff's counsel said "[y]esterday the judge asked this jury panel whether or not anybody had been arrested, and there were no hands." (Trial Tr.p.47, lines 7-8). Again, it is hard to see how this could be anything other than intentional concealment.

b. The circuit court's ruling that the City was negligent appears to conflict with precedent.

A central feature of the circuit court's decision was its conclusion that the City was negligent in failing to learn of the foreman's prior arrest at an earlier point in the litigation. The circuit court held the City should have discovered this "before the verdict." (8/22/18 Or.p.9). The court found the City "failed to adequately review the abundant, public information relevant to prospective jurors" and that the City was seeking relief from its own "negligence" in "inadequately defending" this case. *Id.*

Parties have a right to receive truthful answers during voir dire. That was a key feature of this Court's decision in *Long v. Norris & Associates*, where this Court specifically rejected the argument that the moving party should have obtained background information on potential jurors before trial. This Court explicitly declined "to expand the duty of parties and attorneys to include investigation of prospective jurors." 342 S.C. 561, 571-572, 538 S.E.2d 5, 11 (Ct. App. 2000). *Instead* of parties having to do background checks on the entire venire, the court conducts voir dire for "the dual purposes of enabling the court to

select an impartial jury and assisting counsel in exercising peremptory challenges.” *State v. Wise*, 359 S.C. 14, 23, 596 S.E.2d 475, 479 (2004). The point is that the foreman failed to answer, not that the information could have also been obtained by searching the public index.

The circuit court said *Long* was distinguishable because the moving party in that case presented “evidence” supporting the motion for a new trial. (8/22/16 Or.p.10).

It is hard to understand that purported distinction. *Long* was a suit for assault and battery arising out of a car repossession. Potential jurors were asked during jury selection if they had ever had an automobile repossessed. 342 S.C. 561, 569, 538 S.E.2d 5, 10 (Ct. App. 2000). Someone with a prior repossession failed to respond to the question and was seated on the jury. The defendants in the case learned about the prior repossession after the trial. *Id.* at 566, 538 S.E.2d at 8.

There is no meaningful difference between that case and this one. The only “evidence” in *Long* was an affidavit from the juror admitting his prior repossession and an affidavit from the lender who had repossessed the juror’s car. Here, nobody disputed the foreman had been arrested and had failed to disclose the arrest. It is hard to see why any affidavits would be needed or useful. The City pressed the similarity between this case and *Long* at the hearing and in its proposed order that would have granted the motion for a new trial. (Tr.pp.22-23; Prop.Or.pp.4-5). There is no principled distinction between the cases.

c. The circuit court mis-applied other principles, reciting standards that were irrelevant and wrong.

The circuit court repeatedly mentioned that the City’s lead counsel at trial did not attend the hearing on the City’s motion for a new trial. The court also “found” that the

lawyer who handled the new trial hearing for the City had not properly appeared in the case because there was no order substituting this lawyer as counsel. (8/22/16 Or.p.10, ¶3).

The City is not aware of any authority requiring all counsel of record to appear at a hearing. As to the absence of the City's lead trial counsel, the City had submitted a draft order requesting lead trial counsel be relieved on the grounds that she no longer worked for the City. (July 14, 2017 Letter and Proposed Order). This draft order was submitted nearly a year before the hearing on the motion for a new trial but was never executed. Thus, trial counsel remains counsel of record along with the City's additional counsel. The City's additional counsel had filed notices of appearance long before the hearing.

The circuit court cited authorities for the proposition that a new trial will not be granted for "every act of misconduct" and that objections to jurors are waived if they are not made before the jury is impaneled. (8/22/16 Or.pp.3-4). These authorities do not involve intentional concealment or a juror's failure to disclose information during voir dire. They are completely irrelevant.

The circuit court cited other parts of the voir dire as supporting the proposition that the foreman was not disqualified from service because he must have believed he could be fair. (Id.p.6). Precedent directly refutes this analysis. *Woods* rejects the argument that the moving party must demonstrate prejudice or bias, 345 S.C. at 588, 550 S.E.2d at 285, and in *Gray v. Bryant*, the Supreme Court held the trial court erred in relying on the juror's statement she tried her best to be impartial and fair. 298 S.C. 285, 288, 379 S.E.2d 894, 896 (1989). The City did not have to prove prejudice. Prejudice and bias are inferred in cases of intentional concealment. *Woods*, 345 S.C. at 589, 550 S.E.2d at 285.

Finally, the circuit court on several occasions said the City “could have known” earlier about the foreman’s prior arrest and that the City did not show it “could *not* have known” earlier. (8/22/18 Or.pp.7, 8, 9, 11). That is not the standard. Juror misconduct is not analyzed as a motion based on newly discovered evidence; it is a separate basis for a new trial. *McCoy v. State*, 401 S.C. 363, 370-371, 737 S.E.2d 623, 627 (2013). While it certainly stands to reason that a party may not move for a new trial if the party was negligent and should have known about the concealment sooner, that is different than requiring the party to prove it could not have known about the concealment sooner. The order’s concluding section even found the City had failed to “refute” that it was negligent, suggesting the court applied a presumption of negligence. (8/22/18 Or.p.12, ¶9).

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