**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2016-CP-40-00910
Appellate Case No. 2017-001750

RECEIVED
JUN 10 2019
SC Court of Appeals

Darris Hassell,

Respondent,

V.

The City of Columbia,

Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
DARRIS HASSELL**

Paul L. Reeves (S.C. Bar # 4674)
REEVES AND LYLE, LLC
P.O. Box 11126
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
Phone: 803-920-0001
Fax: 803-929-0927
Email: paul@reevesandlyle.com

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. Rule 59 Motion for a New Trial -- The Trial Court did not abuse its discretion in denying the City's motion for a new trial on the amount of the jury's damage award.

Standard of Review of Motion for New Trial on Excessiveness of Damages Award

The law grants a trial court discretion to grant a new trial absolute when a jury award awards "merely" excessive damages. Vinson v. Hartley, 324 S.C. 389, 404, 477 S.E.2d 715, 723 (Ct.App.1996). If the amount of the jury's verdict is "grossly inadequate or excessive so as to shock the conscience of the court and clearly indicates the figure reached was the result of passion, caprice, prejudice, partiality, corruption or some other improper motives," then the trial court must grant a new trial absolute. *Id.*

On challenge to the amount of an award, the jury's determination of damages is entitled to substantial deference. "In deciding whether to assess error to a court's denial of a motion for a new trial, we must consider the testimony and reasonable inferences to be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." Vinson v. Hartley, 477 S.E.2d at 723. The grant or denial of new trial motions rests within the sound discretion of the trial judge and his decision will not be disturbed on appeal unless the findings are wholly unsupported by the evidence or the conclusions reached are controlled by error of law. Graham v. Town of Latta, S.C., 417 S.C. 164, 182-83, 789 S.E.2d 71, 80 (Ct. App. 2016).

"One cannot easily or with any mathematical certainty place a value on the amount of a person's pain and suffering." Smalls v. S.C. Dep't of Educ., 339 S.C. 208, 218, 528 S.E.2d 682, 687 (Ct. App. 2000). "The trial court, which heard the evidence and is more familiar with the evidentiary atmosphere at trial, possesses a better-informed view of the damages than this court." Wright v. Craft, 372 S.C. 1, 36, 640 S.E.2d 486, 505 (Ct. App. 2006) (citation omitted). On review,

“great deference is given to the trial judge, especially in the area of intangible elements of damages.” Rush v. Blanchard, 310 S.C. 375, 381, 426 S.E.2d 802, 806 (1993).

Applicable Law on Damages for False Arrest and Malicious Prosecution

“[T]o maintain an action for malicious prosecution, a plaintiff must establish: (1) the institution or continuation of original judicial proceedings; (2) by or at the instance of the defendant; (3) termination of such proceedings in plaintiff's favor; (4) malice in instituting such proceedings; (5) lack of probable cause; and (6) resulting injury or damage.” Law v. S.C. Dep't of Corr., 368 S.C. 424, 435, 629 S.E.2d 642, 648 (2006) (quoting Parrott v. Plowden Motor Co., 246 S.C. 318, 321, 143 S.E.2d 607, 608 (1965)); *see* jury charge R.p. 346, Tr. 239.

“To prevail on a claim for false imprisonment, the plaintiff must establish: (1) the defendant restrained the plaintiff, (2) the restraint was intentional, and (3) the restraint was unlawful.” Law, 629 S.E.2d at 651; *see* jury charge R.p. 342, Tr. 235.

The City admitted that mistakes were made. [R.p. 155; Tr. 48.] The officer admitted that he broke department rules when he failed to take the urine sample to SLED for testing. [R.p. 216, 222; Tr. 109, 115.] A Deputy Chief for the City testified that the officer had violated protocol in handling the urine sample and in-car video, and that the failure to preserve the in-car video was a violation of law as well as department protocol. [R.p. 259; Tr. 152.] According to the Deputy Chief, those actions amounted to bad faith. [R.p. 259; Tr. 152/14-19.] The Deputy Chief also testified that reasonable supervision would have included knowing what happened to the urine sample and the video; however, the City never made any inquiry about either the missing video or the urine sample.³ [R.pp. 258-260; Tr. 151-53.]

³ There was testimony that the officer had never conducted a urine test before and he did not know what he was doing, he called his supervisor for advice at several points; but no supervisor

The jury found the City liable on all three causes of action: false arrest/imprisonment, malicious prosecution and negligent supervision. The jury's verdict on liability is not challenged on appeal. Thus, as a matter of law, the City acted without probable cause with malice in arresting Professor Hassel, and he was unlawfully restrained. At trial, the City argued that Professor Hassell got the justice he deserved when the charges were dropped and his record was expunged:

- "Charges were dismissed. Mr. Hassell's record has been expunged. That is justice, guys. That's how it works." [R.p. 320/3-4; Tr. 213/3-4.]
- "He got what he deserved with regards to the charges from that night. And -- and I believe that -- that -- that's great for Mr. Hassell." [R.p. 320/17-19; Tr. 213/17-19.]
- Mr. Hassell doesn't get any money today, but he's already gotten his record expunged, the charges were dismissed." [R.p. 326/9-11; Tr. 219/9-11.]
- "He got his charges dismissed, he got his record expunged." [R.p. 333/6-7; Tr. 226/6-7.]

However, under the law, Professor Hassell is entitled to monetary, compensatory damages for the false imprisonment and malicious prosecution. The jury was charged that recoverable damages included pecuniary loss, deprivation of liberty, loss of time, pain and suffering, humiliation, embarrassment, mental anguish, fright, nervousness, indignity, and injury to reputation. [R.pp. 342-45; Tr. 235-38.] The City took no exception to the jury charge on damages. Considering the testimony and reasonable inferences to be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to Professor Hassell, the Trial Court who presided over the trial and heard the witnesses acted within his discretion in denying the City's motion for a new trial and sustaining the jury's award of damages.

ever showed up at the hospital. And, no one checked up behind him. [R.pp. 220-224; Tr. 113-17.]

Factual Evidence of Intangible Damages Suffered by Plaintiff

In assessing whether the jury's verdict was improperly motivated, the Trial Court had heard the compelling evidence regarding Professor Hassell's character and reputation. The judge and jury saw a decent, upstanding citizen: a college professor who had never in all his life drunk alcohol because of a personal, moral conviction. [R.pp. 163/20- 164/1; Tr. 56/20- 57/1.] The officer actually admitted that Professor Hassell was polite and respectful, and compliant and cooperative during the entire humiliating incident: He was "probably one of the most respectful people I've arrested." [R.p. 231/6-7; Tr. 124/6-7. See also R.pp. 219, 167-68, 195; Tr. 112, 60-61, 88.]

The judge and jury also heard Professor Hassell's account of the emotional pain and humiliation he suffered as a result of the wrongful arrest and prosecution. The record shows that the field tests were administered in a public area and Professor was handcuffed in view of spectators congregated near the emergency room at Palmetto Baptist. [R.p. 169/16-20; Tr. 62/16-20.] Professor Hassell testified that he was embarrassed at being arrested, and embarrassed at being handcuffed. [R.p. 175; Tr. 68.] Professor Hassell also testified that he felt helpless and embarrassed at being paraded through the Palmetto Richland hospital in handcuffs for a urine test. He also felt helpless and embarrassed at being forced to urinate with his hands cuffed and with the police officer watching. [R.p. 182; Tr. 75.] Professor Hassell testified that his reputation is important to him, and he felt that the arrest and being paraded in front of people placed him in a bad light. [R.p. 190; Tr. 83.]

When he was transported to the detention center, Professor Hassell continued to feel embarrassed, hopeless, ashamed. [R.p. 184; Tr. 77.] He was fingerprinted, placed in an overcrowded, cold and rough holding cell which made him feel disgusted. [R.pp. 184-186; Tr. 77-79.]

Professor Hassell testified that he was embarrassed, helpless and humiliated to have to make a phone call to his aunt to explain that he had been arrested, and he hated for his mother to find out. [R.p. 191; Tr. 84.] He also testified about his embarrassment from having to discuss the situation with the Academic Dean, his Division Chair, and his student assistant at USC-Lancaster. [R.p. 193; Tr. 86.] Each conversation was embarrassing, but fortunately, Professor Hassell was so respected that his co-workers did not believe that he had been driving under the influence and his employment with the University did not suffer. However, the fact that the Professor's sterling reputation stood firm does not let the City off the hook from compensating him for the false imprisonment and malicious prosecution.

The jury was charged that the Professor could recover for his loss of time. Fortunately, Professor Hassell did not lose his job, but he did miss work on February 19th while he was detained for 16 hours. The City/officer did not inform the Professor that the urine sample had not been tested and the video had been lost, so the Professor was forced to make a court appearance in April at which time he requested jury trial. [R.pp. 187-188; Tr. 80-81.] The City still did not admit the loss of the evidence and he had to return to court again in October. [R.p. 225; Tr. 118.]

On questioning by the City, Professor Hassell testified that his annual salary was \$48,000 per year.⁴ [R.p. 207; Tr. 100.] During closing argument, Plaintiff's counsel suggested that the jury could award Professor Hassell four, or even five, times his annual salary. The City attorney acknowledged that she did not know what would be a reasonable amount to give Professor Hassell for his false arrest: "How much does he get for that (false arrest)? What's a reasonable amount? I don't know." [R.p. 327/4-5; Tr. 220/4-5.] The City's attorney proceeded to ramble on about the

⁴ Professor Hassell testified that he had to spend \$75 to retrieve his car that had been towed. [R.p. 209; Tr. 102.] Which undoubtedly explains the amount of \$200,075.

medical bills for the labor and delivery of her baby and about an expensive bill from a geneticist for tests on her baby who had a rare condition. She even talked about how unreasonable it was when her husband got only a \$10 per diem when he played football for USC under Coach Holtz.

Apart from the inane digressions about her personal finances, the City attorney offered the jury a series of speculations about how to calculate Professor Hassell's damages abased on this annual salary. Her hypotheticals ranged from \$23 per hour for the 16 hours he was in custody to \$200 per hour for those 16 hours in detention, and she finally proffered that even \$400 per hour was reasonable in her personal assessment. The City attorney acknowledged that Professor Hassell might be entitled to something for his trips to court -- "Now, I think that's worth something. I don't know how much that's worth. ... "I think it's probably worth something. I'll leave that for you guys to decide." [R.pp. 332/23-333/2; Tr. 225/23 - 226/2.] The City attorney expressed her opinion that Professor Hassell was not entitled to anything for the eight months that he was forced to suffer through waiting for the charges to be resolved: "Now, the time that he spent waiting for the charge to be dismissed, eight months or was it nine months that he spent waiting? I don't think he gets paid for that. That's unreasonable. That's a windfall, that's not justice: He got his charges dismissed, he got his record expunged." [R.p. 333/3-7; Tr. 226/3-7.] In the end, the City attorney told the jury: "I'm just asking you to be reasonable. Don't be the geneticists, okay?" [R.p. 334/23-24; Tr. 227/23-24.]

Discussion of the Appropriate Review of the Jury's Award

As noted above, the law recognizes that valuation of intangibles is not ascertainable from a mathematical perspective, and the law also gives wide latitude to the jury and great deference to the trial judge in an assessment of intangible damages. In the case of Fennell v. Littlejohn, 240

S.C. 189, 198, 125 S.E.2d 408, 414 (1962)⁵, the Court discussed damages for humiliation, embarrassment and mental anguish (and loss of consortium) and noted that they are “incapable of accurate measurement. There is no legal yardstick by which to determine them and courts are generally reluctant to disturb an assessment of damages by the jury under such circumstances.” The Court further stated: “There is no market value for injured feelings; and the value of money in comparison with the value of the state of mind of which a man may be deprived by the wrongful invasion of his rights is a matter as to which reasonable men may, and do, differ widely.” *Id.*; see also *Ritter v. Stanton*, 745 N.E.2d 828, 845 (Ind. Ct. App. 2001) (mental pain is not readily susceptible to quantification; thus, the jury is given very wide latitude in determining these kinds of damages).

Judge Manning sat through the trial, observed the witnesses, and did not find that the jury’s award of \$200,075 was grossly excessive for the humiliating and embarrassing experience that Professor Hassell suffered through. At the post-trial hearing on June 2, 2017, the Court succinctly expressed his ruling upholding the jury’s verdict:

THE COURT: The case was tried because the issue probably goes to your heart, and I thought we had a fair jury. The jury elected a foreperson. I think they considered the facts and the law and made a decision that they were comfortable with. I don't think it was excessive. I think both sides received a fair trial, so it's my intention and I feel -- I felt then and I feel now that both sides received a fair trial with a fair jury that made a fair verdict.

Nothing in this record or the case law supports the City’s attempt to convince this Court to second-guess the jury or the trial judge.

⁵ This opinion was superseded by statute (S.C. Code 15-3-150) on an unrelated issue of a cause of action for criminal conversation as stated in *Russo v. Sutton*, 310 S.C. 200, 204, 422 S.E.2d 750, 753 (1992).

The City offers several reported appellate decisions for comparison as evidence of the excessiveness of this verdict. Lynch v. Toys ""R" Us-Delaware, Inc., 375 S.C. 604, 654 S.E.2d 541 (Ct. App. 2007); Swicegood v. Lott, 379 S.C. 346, 665 S.E.2d 211 (Ct. App. 2008); Solanki v. Wal-Mart Store No. 2806, 410 S.C. 229, 763 S.E.2d 615 (Ct. App. 2014). While the Court has noted that a comparison approach can be helpful in reviewing verdicts for excessiveness, but each case must be evaluated individually on its distinctive facts. Lucht v. Youngblood, 266 S.C. 127, 136, 221 S.E.2d 854, 858 (1976). None of the case referenced by the City offer a fair comparison to judge this jury's verdict.

First, as to the case of Lynch v. Toys ""R" Us-Delaware, Inc., the City draws a comparison to a jury award of actual damages in the amount of \$50,000 on causes of action for malicious prosecution and false imprisonment. Respondent would ask the Court to take notice that the Court of Appeals opinion cited by the City was vacated when the appeal was dismissed on joint motion of the parties, 384 S.C. 511, 682 S.E.2d 824 (2009). Thus, that verdict which was not judged excessive cannot be fairly compared.

Similarly, there is no fair comparison to be made to the verdict in Solanki v. Wal-Mart Store No. 2806, because in that case there was no verdict against the defendant on false imprisonment or malicious prosecution, rather the verdict was for a negligence cause of action. Moreover, the verdict of actual damages for \$50,000, was not even challenged; rather, it was the verdict of \$225,000 for punitive damages that was reviewed on appeal. The Court found that there was sufficient evidence to create a jury issue on gross negligence and that the award was reasonably related to the harm suffered.

In Swicegood v. Lott, the defendant challenged the jury's award of \$150,000 actual damages on a cause of action for abuse of process. However, the trial court did not consider the

amount grossly excessive and the appellate court affirmed. Ultimately, none of the cited opinions support the City's argument that this Court should override the trial judge's assessment of the reasonableness of the jury's award and reach a conclusion that the jury's verdict was grossly excessive.

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